Case 2022AP001522 Brief of Appellant Filed 11-07-2022 Page 1 of 16

FILED 11-07-2022 CLERK OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS

STATE OF WISCONSIN

COURT OF APPEALS

DISTRICT IV

C--- N- 2022 A D1522 CD

Case No. 2022AP1522-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN

Plaintiff-Respondent

v. Case No: 22AP1522

Circuit Court Case No. 2020CM310

BRANDON B. SMILEY

Defendant-Appellant

Appeal from the Jefferson County Circuit Court Case No. 20CF310 The Honorable Robert F. Dehring Jr. Presiding

BRIEF OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT, BRANDON B. SMILEY

KIRK D. HENLEY Attorney for Appellant-Defendant State Bar No. 1107974

The Law Office of Kirk Henley, LLC P.O. Box 511820 Milwaukee, WI 53203 attykirkhenley@gmail.com

ISSUES PRESENTED

Brandon Smiley was convicted on one county of Lewd and Lascivious Behavior. Mr. Smiley filed a postconviction motion alleging that his trial counsel was ineffective for failing to file a motion to suppress a pre-trial identification through means of a photo array. The circuit court denied Mr. Smiley's motion. Mr. Smiley now submits the following question for review.

Question Presented:

Whether Mr. Smiley's trial attorney was ineffective when he failed to file a motion to suppress Mr. Smiley's identification through a photo array prior to trial.

POSITION ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

Defense does not request oral argument or publication on this matter.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Statement of the Record:

On August 12, 2020, the state charged Mr. Smiley with lewd and lascivious behavior contrary to Wisconsin Statute Section 944.20(1)(b). R.2, 1. On November 23, 2020, Mr. Smiley entered a plea of not guilty and the matter was set for trial. R. 127, 2,9.

A jury trial took place on September 13, 2021. R. 109. At trial, the jury returned a verdict of guilty for the single count alleged in the complaint. R. 109, 241. Judge Dehring entered a judgement of conviction on the verdict. *Id.* Mr. Smiley was sentenced to nine months in the county jail on October 26, 2021. R. 114, 15.

On April 6, 2022, Defense filed a motion to set aside the verdict and judgement of conviction entered on September 13, 2021, alleging that Mr. Smiley's trial counsel, Attorney Karl Huebner, was ineffective. R. 130. A Machner hearing was held on June 23, 2022. R160.1. After the hearing, the order of the circuit court denied the Defense's motion. R154.1. An order of the Court of Appeals set the deadline for filing a notice of appeal to September 13,2022. R. 159, 2. A

notice of appeal was timely filed on September 8, 2022. R. 165, 1.

Statement of the Facts:

On June 22, 2020, J.H. made a statement to police officers that she saw a man masturbating in the Dollar Tree located at 703 South Church Street in the City of Watertown, Jefferson County Wisconsin. R. 156, 1. The description J.H. gave was that the suspect was male, "approximately young to mid-20's with curly hair, not an afro style, but ethnic, African American or mixed race with light skin, thin build, approximately 5'10" to 6', wearing a baggy white t-shirt, baggy black pants or jeans." *Id.* She also reported that she saw the man get into a blue vehicle with two support ribbons on it that were red, white, and blue "on each side of the Chevy emblem." *Id.*

In her statement, J.H. said that she saw the man smiling at her and she said "hi" to him. R. 156, 1. She turned around to walk down the aisle, and she heard the man say "hey", which caused her to turn back toward him. *Id.* When she turned, she observed the male subject had his penis exposed and in his hand. *Id.* She described that the man was masturbating successfully. *Id.* J.H. told officers that she saw the same individual one more time walking out of the store. *Id.*

On July 9, 2020, J.H. presented to the Watertown police department to view a photo array of potential suspects in the incident that occurred on June 22. R. 155, 1 The photo array contains six photos of young black men. *Id.* at 2. The photos are monochromatic black and white. *Id.* Five of the six photos depict young black men with dark skin and short hair. One of the six photos depicts a young black man with light skin and short hair. *Id.* The photo depicting a young black man with light skin and short hair is the photo depicting Mr. Smiley. *Id.* J.H. informed the officers on the photo array that she was about 30% sure or less that the photo of Mr. Smiley was the photo of the person she saw at the Dollar Tree on June 22 stating that the eyes on the photo were lighter. *Id.* at 3.

On September 11, 2020 Attorney Karl E Huebner was appointed to represent Mr. Smiley. Attorney Huebner

Case 2022AP001522 Brief of Appellant Filed 11-07-2022 Page 8 of 16

represented Mr. Smiley at the jury trial on September 3, 2021. At the jury trial, J.H. identified Mr. Smiley as the person she saw masturbating at the Dollar Tree. J.H. stated at trial that she was only 60-70% sure that Mr. Smiley was the person she saw at the Dollar Tree. R. 109, 78. Attorney Teresa Beck represented the state at trial. Attorney Beck established J.H.'s identification of Mr. Smiley with use of the July 9 photo array. *Id.* The photo array and police reports cataloguing the process used during the showing of the photo array to J.H. was provided to Attorney Huebner prior to trial. No motion was brought to the circuit court prior to trial to suppress the identification of Mr. Smiley through the July 9 photo array. R 160, 7.

At trial evidence was presented that Mr. Smiley may have been the driver of a vehicle that was at the Dollar Tree around the time of the incident with J.H. R. 109, 156. Additionally, testimony of Detective Matthew Lochowitz and exhibits 5, 6, and 7 showed that Mr. Smiley's GPS bracelet was located at the Dollar Tree on June 22. R. 109, 189.

Defense filed a post-conviction motion to set aside the verdict and judgement of conviction entered on September 13, 2021, alleging that Mr. Smiley's trial counsel, Attorney Karl Huebner, was ineffective for failing to file a motion to suppress the identification made by J.H. prior to trial during the photo array. R 130. At the Machner hearing Attorney Huebner testified that he believed that the photo array was not material to the state's case and so he did not pursue a motion to suppress the identification made through the photo array. R. 160 16-17. After arguments the court ruled that Attorney Huebner was not ineffective because it found that he was not deficient for failing to file a motion to suppress the identification of Mr. Smiley. Id. at 35. The court's decision was based both on the court's opinion that the photo array was not impermissibly suggestive as well as the court's opinion that Attorney Huebner's performance was not deficient. Id.

Mr. Smiley now appeals the court's decision to deny his motion to set aside the verdict.

ARGUEMENT

I. THIS COURT **SHOULD FIND THAT BRANDON SMILEY** WAS **DENIED** EFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL WHEN ATTORNEY HUEBNER FAILED TO FILE A MOTION TO SUPPRESS SMILEY'S IDENTIFICATION DURING THE JULY 9 PHOTO ARRAY BECAUSE A **MOTION** TO **SUPPRESS** THE IDENTIFICATION HAD A REASONABLE PROBABILITY OF SUCCESS.

A defendant in the state of Wisconsin has the right to the effective assistance of counsel. Wisconsin Constitution Article 1 section 7; U.S. Constitution 6th Amendment. A defendant is denied their right to ineffective assistance of counsel where the defendant's counsel fails to perform in a way that a reasonable attorney would perform in under the same circumstances and where the defendant was prejudiced by their counsel's deficient performance. *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668, 104 S.Ct. 2052, 80 L.Ed.2d 674 (1984).

A. Standard of Review

This Court reviews the circuit court's denial of an ineffective assistance of counsel claim as a mixed question of law and fact. State v. Kimbrough, 2001 WI App 138, ¶27, 246 Wis. 2d 648, 630 N.W.2d 752. While this Court does not reverse any factual findings of the circuit court unless they are clearly erroneous, this Court reviews whether counsel's performance was deficient and prejudicial to the defendant de Because the issue presented is whether Mr. Smiley's trial counsel's performance was deficient and prejudicial, this court should review that issue de novo. As part of the court's reasoning, the circuit court determined that a photo array was not impermissibly suggestive which is a determination of fact. Because the court's ruling on whether the photo array was impermissibly suggestive is a determination of fact, this court should use the clearly erroneous standard regarding that sub issue.

Case 2022AP001522 Brief of Appellant Filed 11-07-2022 Page 10 of 16

B. Attorney Huebner's performance was deficient for failing to file a motion to suppress Mr. Smiley's identification because the July 9th photo array was impermissibly suggestive, and the in-court identification of the defendant would not have been derived from an independent source.

The first step in determining whether a defendant's counsel was ineffective is to determine whether their decisions at the time were deficient under the circumstances. "In considering alleged incompetency of counsel, one should not by hindsight reconstruct the ideal defense. The test of effectiveness is much broader and an accused is not entitled to the ideal, perfect defense or the best defense but only to one which under all the facts gives him reasonably effective representation." *State v. Machner*, 285 N.W.2d 905, 907, 92 Wis.2d 797 (Wis. App. 1979), Quoting *State v. Harper*, 57 Wis.2d 543, 556-7, 205 N.W.2d 1, 9 (1973).

In the current case, the failure to bring a motion to suppress the identification of Mr. Smiley through the photo array was deficient because a motion to suppress the identification had a reasonable probability of success with the information that Attorney Huebner had at the time.

The test for determining whether an out-of-court photographic identification is admissible or, on review, whether the out-of-court identification was properly admitted has two facets. First, the court must determine whether the identification procedure was impermissibly suggestive. Second, it must decide whether under the totality of the circumstances the out-of-court identification was reliable, despite the suggestiveness of the procedures. *Powell v. State*, 271 N.W.2d 610, 86 Wis.2d 51 (Wis. 1978).

1. The circuit court's finding that the July 9 photo array was not impermissibly suggestive was clearly erroneous because the photo depicting Mr. Smiley shows someone with clearly lighter-colored skin and brighter eyes than the remainder of the individuals depicted in the photo array.

Case 2022AP001522 Brief of Appellant Filed 11-07-2022 Page 11 of 16

"The validity of any photographic identification requires a case-by-case application of the rule to the particular facts of each case and must be determined in light of the totality of the surrounding circumstances." Powell v. State, at 616, citing Holmes v. State, supra, 59 Wis.2d at 495, 208 N.W.2d 815; Simmons v. United States, Supra, 390 U.S. at 383, 88 S.Ct. 967. "Some aspect of the photographs themselves might serve to emphasize unduly the photo of the suspect. The manner in which the photos are presented, grouped, displayed or otherwise exhibited to the eyewitness might be highly suggestive. Finally, the words or actions of the law enforcement official overseeing the viewing might lead or sway an uncertain viewer, thereby compromising the reliability of the resulting identification." Id., citing United States v. Ash, 413 U.S. 300, 93 S.Ct. 2568, 37 L.Ed.2d 619 (1973). Regarding photo arrays, "[w]hat is required is the attempt to conduct a fair lineup, taking all steps reasonable under the 'totality of circumstances' to secure such result." Powell, 271 N.W.2d 610, quoting Wright v. State, 46 Wis.2d 75, 86, 175 N.W.2d 646, 652 (1970).

Defense does not argue that the actions of the officer during the display of the photo array created any impermissible suggestion. However, the photographs themselves unduly emphasize the photo of Mr. Smiley. The circuit court made a record that all of the photos in the that the men depicted had similar hair styles and the lighting in the photos reflected light spots on the men's faces. The photos are in black and white, and the lighter spots do exist in each photo. However, Defense argues that the lighting is not what makes the photo array impermissibly suggestive. Five of the photos in the photo array show men with considerably darker skin than Mr. Smiley, making him noticeably distinguishable from the others because he is the only black male with "light skin." This photo emphasized one of the identifying factors that J.H. described to the officers in her written statement. The color of Mr. Smiley's eyes also differentiates him from the remaining men depicted in the photos. His eyes are light colored while the rest of the men's eyes are dark in color. In J.H.'s statement on the photo array she writes that the bright eyes one of the factors that makes her 30% sure that this was the individual who exposed himself to her.

Case 2022AP001522 Brief of Appellant Filed 11-07-2022 Page 12 of 16

The law does not require the individuals in a photo array to be identical, but when one photo depicts a someone that is clearly the odd man out, the array should be found impermissible. Here, under the totality of the circumstances surrounding the conducting of the photo array, Mr. Smiley, being the only light-skinned black man in the photo array, is singled out. Because the photo array singles out Mr. Smiley the court's finding is clearly erroneous. Because the circuit court's finding was clearly erroneous, this Court should determine that the photo array was impermissibly suggestive.

2. The in-court identification of Mr. Smiley could not be independently sourced without the use of the impermissibly suggestive photo array.

Once a photo array is found impermissibly suggestive, "the state has the burden of showing that the subsequent incourt identification derived from an independent source and was thus free of taint." Powell v. State, at 66 citing, Holmes v. State, 59 Wis.2d at 496, 208 N.W.2d 815; Fells v. State, 65 Wis.2d 525, 536, 223 N.W.2d 507 (1974). Whether the incourt identification can be derived from an independent source is determined by the totality of the circumstances. State v. Robertson, 2019 WI 102, 389 Wis.2d 190, 205, 935 N.W.2d 813, 820 (Wis. 2019). The Court uses five factors to determine whether the totality of the circumstances shows that the identification is derived from an independent source; "(1) the opportunity of the witness to view the suspect at the time of the crime, (2) the witness' degree of attention, (3) the accuracy of his prior description of the suspect, (4) the level of certainty demonstrated at the confrontation, and (5) the time between the crime and the confrontation." Id., citing Manson v. Brathwaite, 432 U.S. at 114, 97 S.Ct. 2243.

The Court of Appeals has found that the in-court identification of a defendant can be free of the taint of an impermissibly suggestive photo array where the witness knew the defendant prior to the commission of the crime. *State v. Wiley*, 345 Wis.2d 847, 826 N.W.2d 123, 2013 WI App 13 (Wis. App. 2012). In *State v. Wiley*, the witness was shown a photo array of potential suspects in a homicide investigation. *Id.* The defendant in the case had physical defect in his right

Case 2022AP001522 Brief of Appellant Filed 11-07-2022 Page 13 of 16

eye. *Id.* In the photo array shown to the witness, only the photo depicting the defendant showed someone with a physical defect in the right eye. *Id.* The circuit court found that the photo array was unduly suggestive. *Id.*

On appeal, the court of appeals found that although the photo array was unduly suggestive, suppression was erroneous because the state could prove that the in-court identification had an independent source. *Id.* The witness in *Wiley* had known the defendant and had seen him "practically every day' or 'every other day' for five to ten years." *Id.* at ¶15. Because of the independent identification of the defendant, the suggestive line-up did not taint the witness's identification of the defendant. *Id.*

Wiley is differentiated from the current case because J.H. in the current case did not know the individual she saw in the Dollar Tree prior to the incident. She briefly saw the individual in the aisle while shopping. The opportunity for J.H. to view the suspect at the time of the crime was limited because of the briefness of their interaction. She saw the individual three times. (R. 109 at 73.) She saw the suspect first in the isle of the Dollar Tree when the suspect said "hey", second when she walked away, and finally when the suspect left the store. Id.

Because the suspect was exposing his penis and masturbating, J.H.'s degree of attention was limited at the time of their interaction. If J.H. was focused on the suspect's penis to the point that she observed him ejaculating, then J.H. likely did not have a good opportunity to view the suspect's face. J.H.'s prior description of the suspect was fairly generic. The description J.H. gave was that the suspect was male, "approximately young to mid-20's with curly hair, not and afro style, but ethnic, African American or mixed race with light skin, thin build, approximately 5'10" to 6', wearing a baggy white t-shirt, baggy black pants or jeans." No identifying factors such as facial scars, tattoos, or unique clothing or jewelry were provided. The level of certainty demonstrated at the confrontation was very low. J.H. said that she was only 30% sure that the person she saw at the Dollar Tree was Mr. Smiley. Finally, the time between the crime and the confrontation was over two weeks. Seventeen days passed Case 2022AP001522 Brief of Appellant Filed 11-07-2022 Page 14 of 16

from the time that J.H. saw the suspect in the Dollar Tree until the time that she was presented with the photo array.

Because J.H.'s in court identification would have been derived from an independent source, J.H.'s in-court identification of Mr. Smiley was not free of taint. Because the photo array was impermissibly suggestive and the in-court identification provided by J.H. would not have been independently sourced and free of taint, this Court should determine that Attorney Huebner's failure to file a motion to suppress was deficient performance in this case.

C. Mr. Smiley was prejudiced by the failure to bring a motion to suppress the identification through the photo array because without the identification through the photo array, the state could not have proven its case beyond a reasonable doubt.

The second prong of the test for ineffective assistance of counsel is the prejudice prong. *Stickland*, 466 U.S. at 682. Prejudice to determine ineffective assistance is defined as "a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's error, the result of the proceeding would have been different." *State v. Guerard*, 2004 WI 85, ¶ 43, 273 Wis. 2d 250, 682 N.W.2d 12 (citing *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 694). "A reasonable probability is a probability sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome." Id. "Whether counsel's deficient performance satisfies the prejudice prong of *Strickland* depends upon the totality of the circumstances at trial." *State v. Jenkins*, 2014 ¶50 WI 59, 355 Wis.2d 180, 199, 848 N.W.2d 786, 795 (Wis. 2014).

The state provided information at trial that Mr. Smiley was at the dollar tree at the time of the incident through his GPS bracelet and that a vehicle that he was possibly driving left the parking lot at a similar time to the incident. However, without J.H.'s identification that Mr. Smiley was the individual who was exposing himself at the Dollar Tree, the state only had evidence on the record that Mr. Smiley was at the store at the time.

The circuit court determined that the circumstantial evidence that the state presented at trial was enough to prove beyond a reasonable doubt that Mr. Smiley was the individual

Case 2022AP001522 Brief of Appellant Filed 11-07-2022 Page 15 of 16

who exposed himself to J.H. at the Dollar Tree, however, the circuit court failed to consider that without the in-court identification of Mr. Smiley as the person who exposed himself to J.H., the only evidence on the record of the person who exposed himself was that he was a young light-skinned black male with a short ethnic hair style. Mr. Smiley is surely not the only light-skinned black male in Jefferson County. The in-court identification is the keystone that the circumstantial evidence leans on in the state's case. Without that in-court identification, the jury could have found different avenues to consider reasonable doubts regarding the state's circumstantial evidence.

Because the jury could have considered different avenues of reasonable doubt at trial without the in-court identification, that the motion to suppress was never filed prejudiced Mr. Smiley.

CONCLUSION

For the reasons stated above, this Court should reverse the decision of the circuit court and remand this case.