FILED 12-02-2022 CLERK OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS

# STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT IV Case No. 2022AP001522CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

V.

**BRANDON B. SMILEY** 

Defendant-Appellant.

On Appeal from a Judgment of Conviction and Order Denying Postconviction Relief in Jefferson County Circuit Court, Case No. 2020CF000310, The Honorable Robert F. Dehring Jr., Presiding.

BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

Respectfully submitted, THERESA A. BECK Assistant District Attorney State Bar # 1032818 Attorney for Plaintiff-Respondent

District Attorney's Office Jefferson County, Wisconsin 320 South Main Street, Room 225 Jefferson, Wisconsin 53549 (920) 674-7220

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

#### ARGUMENT

- I. THE CIRCUIT COURT PROPERLY HELD THAT TRIAL COUNSEL'S PERFORMANCE WAS NOT DEFICIENT, AND THE TRIAL COURT'S FINDINGS THAT THE PHOTO ARRAY WAS NOT IMPERMISSIBLY SUGGESTIVE AND A MOTION TO SUPPRESS THE ARRAY WOULD NOT HAVE BEEN SUCCESSFUL ARE NOT CLEARLY ERRONEOUS AND SHOULD BE SUSTAINED.
  - A. Mr. Smiley Bears The Burden of Proving That His Trial Counsel's Performance Was Both Deficient and That He Was Prejudiced by The Alleged Deficient Performance.

In order to establish ineffective assistance of counsel, the defendant must prove that counsel's performance was deficient and that the deficient performance prejudiced the defendant. Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 687, 104 S.Ct. 2052 (1984). When a defendant fails to prove either prong of the test, a reviewing court need not consider the remaining prong. State v. Hubanks, 173 Wis. 2d 1, 24-25, 496 N.W.2d 96 (Ct. App. 1992). To demonstrate deficiency, a defendant must establish that counsel's performance fell below an objective standard of reasonableness considering all the circumstances. Strickland, 466 U.S. at 688. A defendant must demonstrate specific acts or omissions by counsel fell "outside the wide range of professionally competent assistance". Id. at 690. A review of counsel's performance must be highly deferential to counsel's strategic decision making and make every effort to eliminate the distortion of hindsight. See State v. Johnson, 153 Wis. 2d 121, 127, 449 N.W.2d 845 (1990). The evaluation should consider counsel's perspective at the time. Strickland, 466 U.S. at 689. Counsel enjoys a strong presumption that their conduct falls within the range of Case 2022AP001522 Brief of Respondent Filed 12-02-2022 Page 12 of 22

reasonable professional assistance. *Id.* Counsel's representation of a client is not required to be perfect or even good to be constitutionally adequate. *State v. Williquette*, 180 Wis. 2d 589, 605, 510 N.W.2d 708 (1993). A decision by trial counsel to not pursue a meritless argument or motion does not constitute deficient performance. *State v. Harvey*, 139 Wis. 2d. 353, 380, 407 N.W.2d. 235 (1987).

# B. Mr. Smiley Cannot Establish That The Photo Array Was Impermissibly Suggestive

Mr. Smiley cannot meet his burden to establish that the composition of the photo array presented to Victim 1 was impermissibly suggestive, a prerequisite to demonstrating that a pre-trial motion had merit and would have succeeded. Mr. Smiley alleges the circuit court finding that the array was not impermissibly suggestive is clearly erroneous because his photo shows someone with lighter skin and brighter eyes than the remainder of the array. He does not argue that the words or actions of the officer who administered the array were suggestive.

Officer Wehner testified at trial that he put together a photo array of six photographs similar to the suspect's qualities and appearance (R. 109:120, Def-App.:207) The photos in this array were printed in black and white, instead of color. (R. 109:121, Def-App.:208) The officer testified that he made this decision to have a black and white photo array because of the bright colored shirt worn by Smiley in the photograph, and that he wanted to prevent Smiley's photo from standing out against the others. (R. 109:121, Def-App.:208) Smiley's photo was in envelope #4 of the photo

array. (R. 109:123, Def-App.:210) The photo array was administered by a separate officer not involved in the investigation. (R. 109:122, Def-App.:209)

Officer Riedl testified that she administered the photo array to Victim 1 on July 9, 2020. (R. 109:163, Def-App.:250) The photos were shown one at a time in accordance with their department policy. (R. 109:166, Def-App:253). Victim 1 expressed interest in three of the photographs identified by their envelope number. (R. 109:166-67, Def-App.:253-54) One of the photos she expressed interest in was envelope #4. (R. 109:167, Def-App:254). Victim 1 expressed her level of certainty as to envelope #4 being about fifty percent. (R. 109:168, Def-App.:255). Envelope #4 contained Mr. Smiley's photograph. (R. 109:123, Def-App.:210) Victim 1 told Officer Riedl that she was the most sure of envelope #4. (R. 109:168, Def-App.:255)

Wisconsin courts use a two prong test for assessing the admissibility of an out of court identification. *State v. Roberson*, 2019 WI 102 ¶ 34, 389 Wis. 2d. 190, 935 N.W.2d. 813. The first prong requires the defendant to establish the out of court identification is impermissibly suggestive. *Id.* If this burden is not met, no further inquiry is necessary. *Powell v. State*, 86 Wis. 2d. 51, 68, 271 N.W.2d 610 (1978). If the defendant meets the burden of establishing impermissible suggestibility, the burden then shifts to the State to show that the identification is reliable under the "totality of the circumstances". *Roberson*, 2019 WI 102, ¶ 35.

Suggestiveness in a photo array used for identification may arise in several different ways including the manner in which the photos are presented or displayed, the words or actions of someone involved in the administration of the array, or by some

Case 2022AP001522 Brief of Respondent Filed 12-02-2022 Page 14 of 22

aspect of the photos themselves. *Powell*, 86 Wis. 2d at 63 (*citing United States v. Ash*, 413 U.S. 300, 93 S.Ct. 2568 (1973)). No suggestiveness exists when a witness is presented with photographs without any hint of suggestion or encouragement or in any order which may tend to influence their identification. *State v. Mosley*, 102 Wis. 2d 636, 652-653, 307 N.W.2d 200 (1981).

The defense argues that the photos themselves are suggestive because of differences in skin and eye color. A photo array is not per se impermissibly suggestive merely because the individuals in the array have different appearances. Id. at 654 (declining to hold that a unique identifying feature *ipso facto* is unduly suggestive). There is nothing in Mr. Smiley's photo that is prominently featured, and his photograph is not otherwise prominently featured within the array itself. (R. 155:2, Def-App.:334) The photographs in the array show six men with similar features, hair lines, and builds. (R. 155:2, Def-App.:334). In the black and white photographs there is little difference in skin tone or color. (R. 155:2, Def-App.:334) The defense argues that the color of Mr. Smiley's eyes appear lighter in the photo. In the description given to law enforcement, Victim 1 does not reference his eye color at all as an identifying factor. (R. 156:1, Def-App.:3) The defense argues that these perceived differences in skin tone and eye color make the array suggestive. There is no requirement that law enforcement seek out individuals who look identical to the defendant. Photographs used in a photo array need not be identical. Wright v. State, 46 Wis. 2d 75, 86, 175 N.W.2d 646 (1970). Law enforcement is required to make every effort reasonable under the circumstances to conduct a fair and balanced presentation of alternative possibilities for identification.

Case 2022AP001522 Brief of Respondent Filed 12-02-2022 Page 15 of 22

Id. "The police are not required to conduct a search for identical twins in age, height, weight or facial features....what is required is the attempt to conduct a fair lineup, taking all steps reasonable under the 'totality of circumstances' to secure such result."

Id. The photo array presented to Victim 1 conformed to these requirements.

The defense cannot meet their burden to establish that these minor differences rise to the level of impermissible suggestiveness in the array. Without a finding of suggestiveness, the Court need not address the totality of the circumstances prong of admissibility. Therefore, a pre-trial motion challenging the admissibility of the out of court identification would have failed, and counsel's determination that there was no reasonable probability that the out of court identification could be suppressed is reasonable under the circumstances and his performance is not deficient.

C. Even If Mr. Smiley Could Demonstrate That The Array Was Impermissibly Suggestive, He Has Not Demonstrated That The Out of Court Identification And In Court Identification Were Otherwise Inadmissible.

The State is not precluded from using evidence of an identification made under suggestive conditions if it is reliable under the totality of the circumstances. *See Manson v. Brathwaite*, 432 U.S. 98, 113-14, 97 S.Ct. 2243 (1977). It is reliability that is the linchpin in determining the admissibility of identification testimony. *Id.* at 114. The primary evil to be avoided is a "very substantial likelihood of irreparable misidentification". *Powell*, 86 Wis. 2d at 63-64 (quoting *Simmons v. United States*, 390 U.S. 377, 384, 88 S.Ct. 967 (1968)). Reliability of the identification is judged upon the totality of the circumstances test, which includes consideration of factors including:

Case 2022AP001522 Brief of Respondent Filed 12-02-2022 Page 16 of 22

the opportunity of the witness to view the person at the time of the crime, the witnesses degree of attention, the accuracy of the witnesses prior description of the person, the level of certainty demonstrated by the witness at the confrontation and the length of time between the crime and the confrontation. *Neil v. Biggers*, 409 U.S. 188, 199-200, 93 S.Ct. 375 (1972).

The out of court identification of Mr. Smiley is reliable and admissible under the totality of the circumstances factors. Victim 1 testified at trial that she was able to see Mr. Smiley three times inside the store (R. 109:73, Def-App.:160), twice in the aisle of the store, and one additional time as he left. (R. 109:73-75, Def-App.:160-162). Victim 1 testified that she looked him in the face when he said "hey" and she was able to provide a description of his clothing. (R. 109:72-73, Def-App.:159-60) She provided a specific description of the defendant including height, build, skin tone and hair. (R. 109:72, Def-App.:159) She also provided a specific description of the vehicle used to leave the store, (R. 109:71, Def-App.:158) All of these factors point to the conclusion that Victim 1 had multiple opportunities to see Mr. Smiley, and that at the time she was paying a high degree of attention to the situation. When Officer Wehner made contact with Brandon Smiley, the officer observed that he appeared to match the description given by Victim 1, including some of the clothing he was wearing at the time of the contact. (R. 109:118, Def-App.:205) Victim 1's description of Smiley matched his physical features. There was no substantial delay in time between the incident and the administration of the array, which occurred only 17 days later. During the array, Victim 1 selected Mr. Smiley's photo and indicated she was the most sure about his photograph. (R. 155:1-3, Def-App.:333-35) Considering all of the factors in the totality of the circumstances test, the out of court identification was reliable. Victim 1 had sufficient opportunity to view Mr. Smiley, she provided an accurate physical description that matched what law enforcement observed of Mr. Smiley's physical attributes, and his clothing. The array administration was not unduly delayed, and her responses during the array identified Mr. Smiley's photograph as the one she was most sure of in relationship to the others.

An in court identification made subsequent to a constitutionally defective out of court identification process is not per se inadmissible. *State v. McMorris*, 213 Wis. 2d 156, 167, 570 N.W.2d. 384 (1997)(citing *U.S. v. Wade*, 388 U.S. 218, 240, 87 S.Ct. 1926 (1967)). If an out of court identification is determined to be constitutionally defective, the burden shifts to the State to establish by clear and convincing evidence that the in court identification is derived from an independent source. *Id.* The independent source can be based upon observations of the subject other than the out of court identification. *See id.* at 169-70.

In the *McMorris* case, the Wisconsin Supreme Court applied the *Wade* factors consisting of a multi-prong test in consideration of whether an in court identification is sufficiently free of taint from a constitutionally defective out of court identification process. *Id.* at 169-74. The factors considered in *McMorris* and *Wade* are: the prior opportunity of the witness to observe the alleged criminal conduct, the existence of any discrepancy between the pre-line up description and the accused actual description, any identification of another person prior to the lineup, a failure to identify the accused on a prior occasions, the lapse of time between the alleged crime and the lineup

Case 2022AP001522 Brief of Respondent Filed 12-02-2022 Page 18 of 22

identification, and the facts surrounding the conduct of the lineup. *Id.* at 168 (citing *Wade*, 388 U.S. at 241). In addressing the overlap between the totality of the circumstances test and the independent source test, the Court did not find these tests to be the functional equivalent of each other and addressed each test separately. *Id.* at 176-77.

In applying the Wade factors to this case, many of the prongs are satisfied to support a conclusion that Victim 1's initial observations of Mr. Smiley in the store are not tainted by the photo array. While Victim 1 was not acquainted with Smiley prior to the encounter at the Dollar Store, her opportunity to observe him during the incident was not fleeting. She saw him three times, including two instances where they were located in close proximity to each other in the same store aisle. The victim was able to provide a detailed description of approximate age, height, description of his clothing, his hair style, length and texture, his build and skin tone. Her description given to law enforcement prior to the photo array matched the physical characteristics of Mr. Smiley observed by law enforcement when Officer Wehner had contact with him approximately one week after the incident. During the photo array 17 days later, the victim noted she was most sure of the photograph containing Smiley's image, although she conceded not being more than fifty percent sure at the time. The victim did not identify any other individuals within the array as the person she saw at the store.

Thus, even if Mr. Smiley could have established that the composition of the array was suggestive, he cannot establish that the identifications would have been inadmissible at trial either under the totality of the circumstances test or the independent source test.

D. Mr. Smiley Cannot Establish That He Was Prejudiced by Attorney Huebner's Decision Not to Pursue A Motion to Suppress The Photo Array Because The Motion Would Have Failed, And The Out of Court Identification Was Otherwise Admissible.

The second prong of the ineffective assistance of counsel test requires the proponent to show that they suffered prejudice from the alleged deficiency. *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 682. In evaluating prejudice, the Court is to consider whether there is a "reasonable probability that, but for counsel's unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different". *Id.* at 694. A reasonable probability is one sufficient enough to undermine confidence in the outcome. *Id.* Counsel's decision based upon a reasonably sound strategy, without the benefit of hindsight are "virtually unchallengeable" and do not constitute ineffective assistance of counsel. *Id.* at 690-691. Even decisions made with less than a thorough investigation may be sustained, if reasonable, given the strong presumption of effective assistance and deference to strategic decision. *State v. Carter*, 2010 WI 40, ¶23, 324 Wis. 2d 640, 782 N.W.2d 695 (citing *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 690-91).

Here, the proponent of the ineffective assistance of counsel claim cannot establish that he was prejudiced by counsel's decision to not challenge the photo array prior to trial. Because Mr. Smiley's photograph and the entire array are not

Case 2022AP001522 Brief of Respondent Filed 12-02-2022 Page 20 of 22

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